
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLORADO

Criminal Case No.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Plaintiff,
v.

1.  JOSEPH MARTIN RAEL,

Defendant.
______________________________________________________________________________

I N D I C T M E N T

18 U.S.C. § 152(2),(3)
18 U.S.C. § 1519

______________________________________________________________________________

The Grand Jury charges that:

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS

At all times material to this Indictment:

1. An individual may file a petition for one of several different types of bankruptcy,

commonly referred to as chapters.  One of these types of bankruptcy is known as "Chapter 13."  

An individual who files for Chapter 13 Bankruptcy is known as a "debtor."  A Chapter 13

bankruptcy is a proceeding in which the debtor is unable to make current payments on debts

owed, but requests that the United States Bankruptcy Court approve a plan pursuant to which the

debtor promises to make installment payments on all or part of the outstanding debts the debtor

owes over a period of time of not more than five years.  

2. A debtor is required to complete and file several documents with the bankruptcy

court as part of the Chapter 13 bankruptcy process.  These documents consist of a Petition, which
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contains summary information about the debtor’s financial condition, a Statement of Financial

Affairs and various Bankruptcy Schedules, which contain, among other things, detailed

information about the debtor’s assets, liabilities, recent payments to creditors, past and current

income, and anticipated future income. 

3. Pursuant to Rule 5005 of the Federal Rules of Bankruptcy Procedure, and

Amended General Procedure Order Number 2001-8 of the Local Bankruptcy Rules of the United

States Bankruptcy Court for the District of Colorado, an attorney retained by a bankruptcy

petitioner/debtor may electronically file a Bankruptcy Petition and related documents on behalf

of the petitioner/debtor.  Electronically filed Petitions bear an “electronic signature” certifying

that the Petitioner has signed, under penalty of perjury, an original of the electronically filed

Petition and related documents.  The “electronic signature” appears on the filed documents as “/s/

Jane Doe [name of the  Petitioner/Debtor].”

4. In the case of a married couple, the couple may file a joint Chapter 13 petition, or 

one spouse may file an individual petition.  If a married couple files a joint Chapter 13 petition,

they are identified as joint debtors, and both joint debtors must sign, under penalty of perjury, the

following: (a)  the Bankruptcy Petition; (b) the Statement of Financial Affairs; and (c) a form

entitled “Declaration Concerning Debtor’s Schedules” which attests to the accuracy of the

required Bankruptcy Schedules.   By signing these documents, and authorizing the electronic

filing of the documents, the joint debtors certify that the documents are all true and correct.  

5. In the Bankruptcy Petition, Statement of Financial Affairs and Schedules, the joint

debtors are required to disclose all creditors to the bankruptcy court so that the court can provide

notice to the creditors of the filing of the Chapter 13 bankruptcy petition.  One purpose for this
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requirement is to allow the creditors the opportunity to participate in the bankruptcy proceeding

and protect their interests. 

6. Question Number 8 of the Statement of Financial Affairs that accompanies each

Chapter 13 Bankruptcy Petition, requires the joint debtors to disclose all losses from “fire, theft,

other casualty, or gambling” that either debtor has incurred “within one year immediately

preceding” the filing of the Petition.

7. Pursuant to §341 of the Bankruptcy Code, title 11 United States Code, the joint

debtors must submit to a meeting conducted by a Trustee assigned to administer the bankruptcy

case.  At this meeting, which is known as a “Meeting of Creditors”, the joint debtors are placed

under oath and questioned by the Chapter 13 Trustee and by any creditors who choose to attend

the meeting, about the information contained in their bankruptcy documents and about their

financial condition in general.

8. On or about March 31, 2005, Defendant JOSEPH MARTIN RAEL, knowingly

caused the filing of a Petition for Chapter 13 Bankruptcy in the United States Bankruptcy Court

for the District of Colorado, Case No. 05-16876, In re: Joseph Martin Rael and Terese Driscoll-

Rael.  The petition filed by Defendant purported to be a joint petition filed by the Defendant and 

his lawful spouse, Teresa Driscoll-Rael.  The Bankruptcy Petition, the accompanying Statement

of Financial Affairs, and the accompanying Declaration Concerning Debtor’s Schedules, all

purported to contain the authorized electronic signature of Teresa Driscoll-Rael.

9. On or about April 26, 2005, the Chapter 13 Trustee conducted the Meeting of

Creditors.  At the Meeting of Creditors the Chapter 13 Trustee questioned  Defendant JOSEPH
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MARTIN RAEL, under oath, about the absence of his spouse, purported joint-petitioner Teresa

Driscoll-Rael, from the proceeding.

COUNT ONE
18 U.S.C. §1519

(Use of a False Document  in a Bankruptcy Proceeding)

10. Paragraphs 1 through 9 of the General Allegations section of this Indictment are

re-alleged and incorporated by reference.

11. On or about March 31, 2005, in the State and District of Colorado,  Defendant

JOSEPH MARTIN RAEL, knowingly falsified and made a false entry in a document with the

intent to impede, obstruct, and influence the proper administration of a case filed under  title 11

of the United States Code,  that is, In re: Joseph Martin Rael and Teresa Driscoll-Rael, Case No.

05-16876-MER, a matter filed in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the District of

Colorado, by filing a Voluntary Petition for Chapter 13 Bankruptcy (FORM B1), on which the

Defendant caused the affixation of the falsified and unauthorized electronic signature of his

spouse, Teresa Driscoll-Rael.

All in violation of  Title 18, United States Code, Section 1519.

COUNT TWO
18 U.S.C. §1519

(Use of a false writing or document in a Bankruptcy Proceeding)

12. Paragraphs 1 through 9 of the General Allegations section of this Indictment are

re-alleged and incorporated by reference.

13. On or about March 31, 2005, in the State and District of Colorado, Defendant

JOSEPH MARTIN RAEL, knowingly falsified and made a false entry in a document with the

intent to impede, obstruct, and influence the proper administration of a case filed under title 11 of
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the United States Code, that is, In re: Joseph Martin Rael and Teresa Driscoll-Rael, Case No.

05-16876-MER, a matter filed in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the District of

Colorado, by filing a document entitled “Statement of Financial Affairs,” on which the

Defendant caused the affixation of the falsified and unauthorized electronic signature of his

spouse, Teresa Driscoll-Rael.

All in violation of  Title 18, United States Code, Section 1519.

COUNT THREE
18 U.S.C. §1519

(Use of a False Document  in a Bankruptcy Proceeding)

14. Paragraphs 1 through 9 of the General Allegations section of this Indictment are

re-alleged and incorporated by reference.

15. On or about March 31, 2005, in the State and District of Colorado Defendant

JOSEPH MARTIN RAEL, knowingly falsified and made a false entry in a document with the

intent to impede, obstruct, and influence the proper administration of a case filed under  title 11

of the United States Code, that is, In re: Joseph Martin Rael and Teresa Driscoll-Rael, Case No.

05-16876-MER, a matter filed in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the District of

Colorado, by filing a document entitled “Declaration Concerning Debtor’s Schedules,” on which

the Defendant caused the affixation of the falsified and unauthorized electronic signature of his

spouse, Teresa Driscoll-Rael.

All in violation of  Title 18, United States Code, Section 1519.
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COUNT FOUR
18 U.S.C. §152(3)

(False Declaration in a Bankruptcy Proceeding)

16. Paragraphs 1 through 9 of the General Allegations section of this Indictment are

re-alleged and incorporated by reference.

17.      On or about March 31, 2005, in the State and District of Colorado, the Defendant,

JOSEPH MARTIN RAEL, did knowingly and fraudulently make a false declaration and

statement under penalty of perjury in and in relation to a case under title 11 of the United States

Code, that is, In re: Joseph Martin Rael and Teresa Driscoll-Rael, Case No. 05-16876-MER,

said case having been filed in the United States Bankruptcy Court in the District of Colorado. 

Specifically, in response to question Number 8 on the Statement of Financial Affairs filed by

Defendant JOSEPH MARTIN RAEL, in the matter of In Re: Rael, the Defendant falsely checked

a box indicating “none” in response to the directive that the debtor list “all losses from . . .

gambling within one year immediately preceding the commencement of this [bankruptcy] case.”  

 In fact, Defendant JOSEPH MARTIN RAEL well knew he had incurred substantial gambling

losses in the year immediately preceding the filing of his Bankruptcy case.

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 152(3).

COUNT FIVE
18 U.S.C. §152(2)

(False Oath in a Bankruptcy Proceeding)

18. Paragraphs 1 through 9 of the General Allegations section of this Indictment are

re-alleged and incorporated by reference.
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19. On or about April 26, 2005, in the State and District of Colorado, Defendant

JOSEPH MARTIN RAEL did knowingly and fraudulently make material false oaths and

accounts in a Meeting of Creditors held in and in relation to a case under title 11, filed in the

United States Bankruptcy Court in the District of Columbia, that is, In re: Joseph Martin Rael

and Teresa Driscoll-Rael, Case No. 05-16876, to wit: In response to questioning by the Chapter

13 Trustee, Defendant JOSEPH MARTIN RAEL made the following underlined false oaths:

TRUSTEE: Mr. Rael, your wife is not present at this time.  For the record,
would you let us know where she is?

JOSEPH M. RAEL: Quantico, Virginia.

TRUSTEE: And what is she doing in Virginia?

JOSEPH M. RAEL: She’s on train (sic). Its got to do with narcotics and Homeland
Security.

TRUSTEE: And that has to do with her job?

JOSEPH M. RAEL: Yes.

TRUSTEE: And how long will she be there,  sir?

JOSEPH M. RAEL: Eight weeks.

TRUSTEE: And – when will the eight weeks be up?

JOSEPH M. RAEL: Some time in June, I think . . . 

* *  *  *  *  *

TRUSTEE: Did you review and sign the paperwork your attorney prepared for
you prior to the time it was filed with the court?

JOSEPH M. RAEL: We did.

TRUSTEE: Did it list all your assets and all your debts?

JOSEPH M. RAEL: Yes, sir.
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In fact, Defendant well knew that the statements regarding the whereabouts of his wife

were false, because he knew his wife was within the State and District of Colorado on the date of

the Meeting of Creditors, and that his wife was not in training in Quantico, Virginia during the

eight week period he described to the Chapter 13 Trustee.  Furthermore, Defendant also knew

that he had not listed all of his debts in the Bankruptcy Schedules he filed with the Bankruptcy

Court on March 31, 2005.  Specifically, Defendant knew that he had failed to list as debts in the

Bankruptcy Schedules loans that he had obtained to cover gambling losses, including a loan he

had obtained from his retirement fund, a loan he had obtained from his wife’s retirement fund,

and loans he had obtained from individuals.  

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 152(2).

COUNT SIX
18 U.S.C. §1519

(Use of a false writing in a Bankruptcy Proceeding)

20. Paragraphs 1 through 9 of the General Allegations section of this Indictment are

re-alleged and incorporated by reference.

21. On or about March 31, 2005, in the State and District of Colorado Defendant

JOSEPH MARTIN RAEL, knowingly falsified and made a false entry in a document with the

intent to impede, obstruct, and influence the proper administration of a case filed under  title 11

of the United States Code, that is, In re: Joseph Martin Rael and Teresa Driscoll-Rael, Case No.

05-16876-MER, a matter filed in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the District of

Colorado, by filing a document entitled “Chapter 13 Plan Dated March 31, 2005,” on which the 
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Defendant caused the affixation of a forged and false hand-written signature of his wife, Teresa

Driscoll-Rael.

All in violation of  Title 18, United States Code, Section 1519.

A TRUE BILL:

s/Foreperson________________________
FOREPERSON

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED,

TROY A. EID
United States Attorney

BY:     s/Joe Allen                                                 
JOE ALLEN
Assistant U.S. Attorney
United States Attorney's Office
District of Colorado
1221 17  St., Suite 700TH

Denver, CO  80202
Telephone:  (303) 454-0118
Fax:  (303) 454-0409
e-mail:  joseph.allen@usdoj.gov
Attorney for the Government

mailto:joseph.allen@usdoj.gov
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